1965

# Guy H. Wight and Florence D. Wight v. Eugene Callaghan and Edna Callaghan : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action by landlords under three separate and distinct leases for claimed breach of covenant in allegedly failing to restore premises to as good condition as when entered upon.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the court. From a judgment for the plaintiffs, defendants appeal.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek reversal of the judgment against them, and judgment in their favor as a matter of law; or, that failing, a new trial and a decree to the effect that Eugene Callaghan can only be held liable for breach, if any, of covenants contained in the leases which he executed; that the trial court be required to determine which items of claimed damage, if any, arose during the time that Edna Callaghan, alone, was liable, and which items of claimed damage are normal wear and tear for which neither Defendant is liable. The trial court should be further required to eliminate from the judgment those items of claimed damage for which Defendants are charged twice in the Findings and Judgment and eliminate the judgment for loss of personal property abandoned by Plaintiffs. Appellants also seek reversal of the order dismissing, without trial, their counterclaim; or, in lieu thereof, that the value of the improvements, the subject of the counterclaim, be offset against any sum recovered by Plaintiffs.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 18, 1957, Plaintiffs leased to Defendants, under a written lease, for a two-year term, at \$225.00 per month, an old farm house, remodelled some 20 years previously, located at 3621 Highland Drive, Salt Lake County, Utah.

On February 25, 1959, a new lease was made, covering the same premises, for a one-year term

at \$175.00 a month. This lease was signed only by Guy H. Wight as Lessor and Edna S. Callaghan as Lessee. This lease expired February 29, 1960.

On May 10, 1960, a third lease was executed to take effect July 1, 1960, and to expire June 30, 1963, at \$200.00 a month, rent payable for 33 months only, though the term of the lease was 36 months. This lease was signed by both Plaintiffs and both Defendants.

During the time Defendants were in possession, they made certain structural improvements to property, intending to buy it. Defendants filed a Counterclaim for \$4,602.35 for major improvements to the property. On motion of Plaintiffs this was dismissed by the Court prior to trial.

Plaintiffs, during the period of occupancy by Defendants, entered the premises from time to time and made repairs of various natures.

After Defendants vacated the property in July, 1963, Plaintiffs brought this action claiming Defendants breached the covenant in the leases requiring restoration of the premises in as good condition as when entered upon, except for reasonable wear and tear or damage by the elements or by fire.

Upon trial, the Court found the issues in favor of Plaintiffs and entered judgment in their favor for \$183.33 rent for July, 1963, \$105.13 for items claimed to be missing, \$258.43 for items claimed to be damaged, \$10.00 for lawn seed, \$775.88 for al-



leged damage by water from a burst pipe during the fall of 1959 or winter of 1960, \$26.00 for cleaning a dirty rug, \$829.54 for painting and papering and restoring premises, \$568.64 for attorney's fee, and \$65.50 costs.

Plaintiffs, in their Complaint, claimed \$6.00 for unpaid sewer charges, but this claim was not supported by evidence and no judgment was rendered thereon.

## ARGUMENT

### Point I:

THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT A FINDING THAT DEFENDANT, EUGENE CALLAGHAN, WAS LIABLE FOR ANY CLAIMED DAMAGES EXCEPT SUCH AS MAY HAVE ACCRUED BETWEEN MARCH 1, 1957, AND MARCH 1, 1959, OR AFTER JULY 1, 1960, AND NO DAMAGES ARE SHOWN TO HAVE OCCURRED DURING THOSE PERIODS OF TIME.

In this action, judgment was entered against both Defendants for the entire damages claimed. The findings do not, for the most part, establish when the claimed damage occurred, except that it was sometime between the commencement of the first lease and the termination of the third. Eugene Callaghan signed the first lease and the third, but he did not sign the second, and inasmuch as this is an action for breach of covenants in a lease, he can only be charged for breach of covenants, if any, in

those contracts to which he was a party. From the expiration of the first lease, March 1, 1959, until the commencement of the term under the third lease, July 1, 1960, there was no lease in existence to which Eugene Callaghan was a party, and it was during this period of time that the greatest item of alleged damage occurred. (R. 19 Par. 15.) In fact, the only alleged damages identified as to time, occurred during this period.

At the trial, Plaintiffs endeavored to establish that the second lease was signed by Mrs. Callaghan as agent for her husband, but the proof submitted does not support such claim.

At the time the three leases were offered in evidence, counsel for Defendants objected to the admission of the second lease, Exhibit 3. To this objection, counsel for Plaintiffs stated (Tr. 44 Line 20) :

It is our position it is continuing, and the wife did have authority to sign for the husband and did sign it and the lease was fully executed by both parties, the husband and the wife, and that the defendant husband is bound by his wife signing on the lease.

This statement by Plaintiffs' counsel is a desperate effort to tie both the parties to the second lease, but unfortunately for Plaintiffs, it is not the law. A purported agent who does not claim to be an agent and does not purport to execute in behalf of the principal and who does not have either real or apparent authority does not bind the purported

principal. Mrs. Callaghan did not purport to bind her husband. She did not execute the lease in his behalf by herself as a purported agent. She did not claim to have nor did she have either real or apparent authority. She did not, therefore, bind her husband to the second lease.

At the trial, counsel for Plaintiffs, after having made the incorrect statement of the law quoted above, passed on without showing the claimed authority. The Court thereupon, in an apparent effort to assist Plaintiffs' attorney (as the Court seems to have done several times during the course of the trial), reminded him that he had not furnished proof of authority for Mrs. Callaghan to bind her husband. The Court said (Tr. 45 Line 13) :

Mr. Kump, on number three, if you want to show agency so the contract would be binding on those who did not sign, I will expect you to put in proof. The mere fact it is admitted (in evidence) does not mean it is binding on the ones who did not sign it.

To this, Mr. Kump, counsel for Plaintiffs, replied (Tr. 45 Line 18) :

I appreciate that, your honor.

Thereupon, counsel for Plaintiffs, responsive to the Court's prompting, cross-examined his own client, Dr. Wight, in an effort to prove agency. This effort was futile. Dr. Wight explained that not only was the matter not discussed with Mr. Callaghan, but

he, Dr. Wight, and Mrs. Callaghan specifically agreed that the signature of Mr. Callaghan was not necessary. Dr. Wight testified (Tr. 45-46), that he did not discuss the matter at all with Mr. Callaghan. He testified:

We discussed it with Mrs. Callaghan and she agreed she would sign the lease and I would sign the lease and we would not send it to Cyprus for Mr. Callaghan's signature.

Counsel tried to get Dr. Wight to say that Defendant Eugene Callaghan had confirmed the lease by letter. This effort was also fruitless (Tr. 46). Had there been any letter of confirmation, we may be sure it would have been offered in evidence. Counsel then probed for payment of rent by Mr. Callaghan, but Dr. Wright testified (Tr. 46 line 24) :

Mrs. Callaghan always paid the rent.

It is elemental that the burden of proving agency rests on the party alleging it, and that agency is not presumed, but is a question of law which must be established by proven facts. (See West's Digest System, *Principal and Agent*, Key 19, and numerous cases cited therein.) Plaintiffs have not met this burden of proof and for that reason, if for no other, Defendants' appeal should be granted and the case remanded for elimination of all items of damage charged to Defendant Eugene Callaghan for purported damage occurring between the end of the first lease and the commencement of the third.



## Point II:

PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT PROVEN THAT CLAIMED DAMAGES OCCURRED DURING PERIODS LEASES WERE IN EFFECT.

Any claimed damage occurring during the period when no lease was in effect, that is, between March 1, 1960, and June 30, 1960, as to defendant Edna Callaghan and between March 1, 1959, and June 30, 1960, as to Defendant Eugene Callaghan, would not be breach of covenant in a lease, but tort. Plaintiffs do not plead in tort, and had they done so, their claim would have been barred by the Statute of Limitations, this action having been filed August 27, 1963, more than three years after the alleged tort could have occurred. Any claim in tort would thus have been barred by the provisions of Sec. 78-12-26 (1), Utah Code Annotated 1953. Consequently, any claim for damages occurring within these time limits must be disallowed. This points up a fatal defect in Plaintiffs' case. Except for the water damage, which allegedly occurred during the winter of 1959-1960 (Findings, Par. 15, R. 19), there is no finding as to when any of the alleged damage occurred. Dr. Wight testified that he did not know whether any of the items purported to be missing were there when the last lease was signed (Tr. 58, line 6; Tr. 103 line 13). The Court cannot assume that damage occurred during the leased period. That is a fact which Plaintiffs had the burden to prove and failed to prove. If for no other reason, the case

should be remanded to the trial court for a new trial to determine what, if any, of the claimed damage occurred during the period the leases were in effect.

### Point III:

**DEFENDANTS SHOULD NOT BE CHARGED WITH NORMAL WEAR AND TEAR; NOR WITH IMPROVEMENTS BEYOND MERE RESTORATION.**

By the Findings of Fact (R. 18-20) upon which the judgment is based, the Defendants are charged with: the expense of cleaning a dirty rug, \$26.00; the cost of replacing worn out and missing check ropes in the garage 60¢; a missing door stop in garage, \$1.50; a worn out water softener, \$100.00; paints and labor in redecoration; etc. It is Defendants' contention that the damage claimed by Plaintiffs is merely normal wear and tear that can be expected from 6½ years' occupancy.

Before discussing specific items of claimed damage, let us see what the record reveals as to the status of the property at the inception of the lease. The home was purchased by Plaintiffs in 1937 (Tr. 40). It had been an old farm house (Tr. 40), remodelled before its purchase by Plaintiffs. (Tr. 41.) They lived in it until 1954 to 1956 (Tr. 41), a period of 17 to 19 years. Then it was occupied for nine months by an employee of the Plaintiffs (Tr. 171), an unmarried woman (Tr. 41), who had another girl liv-

ing with her (Tr. 42). The record is not clear as to the length of time it was vacant prior to its occupancy by this employee who moved in March, 1956. Plaintiffs testified as to different times that they moved out; Dr. Wight said in 1953 (Tr. 104) or 1954 or 1956 (Tr. 41). His testimony does not appear to be very reliable. Defendants moved in during February, 1957.

The nature of the home must be deduced from little items. It had no tile, only linoleum on the kitchen drain (Tr. 95); the drawer pulls on the kitchen cabinets were dime-store glass pulls (Tr. 57). One of them was broken (Tr. 339). The glass door in the kitchen cabinet was broken (Tr. 326). The plaster was in bad shape, and "sloughed occasionally and had done so before" on most of the walls, as testified to by the Plaintiff, Dr. Wight (Tr. 99). The plaster had come off in one place (Tr. 299). The rug on the living room floor had been down for 16 years (Tr. 106 line 16 and Tr. 138), and was pitted and stained with brown spots (Tr. 246 and 257). The yard was overgrown (Tr. 271) and by Plaintiffs' own admission there was debris in the yard left by the Plaintiffs (Tr. 113 lines 6-7). The home was in poor repair (Tr. 274; Tr. 250 lines 17-19; Tr. 252 lines 12-14). Only the basement bedroom and bath had been painted within the previous 3 or 4 years (Tr. 118 lines 2-6). Elsewhere the paint was 16 or 17 years old (Tr. 152-153). It needed to be cleaned and decorated (Tr. 246). The shop was a rough workshop lined with 5 inch flooring (Tr. 119) until

its extensive remodelling and conversion into an office by Defendant (Tr. 120). There was a water softener at least 2 or 3, or more likely, 8 or 9 years old (Tr. 125). There was trouble of some undisclosed nature in the basement, admitted by Plaintiffs, requiring "rebuilding" every 5 or 6 years (Tr. 132). Obviously this was no immaculate mansion; and it should be pointed out that most of the references to the transcript, hereinabove referred to, are from the testimony of the Plaintiffs themselves.

During the term of occupancy of the property by Defendants, the Defendants paid to Plaintiffs \$15,400.00 in rents, and expended \$1,560.63 in maintenance of the property (Tr. 318), not to mention the expenditure by Defendants of \$4,602.35 in making improvements and alterations to said premises (R. 6). During this same time, Plaintiffs charged off \$4,000.00 in depreciation on this property on their income tax return (Tr. 107), and received \$775.88 plus \$74.00 (Tr. 116-117) from an insurance company for damages, the same damages which are here charged to Defendants. Yet they expect to have their cake and eat it too, by compelling Defendants to restore the property not merely to the same, but to better condition than before their occupancy. Dr. Wight testified that he replaced the old linoleum drainboard with tile (Tr. 95-96). The place was completely renovated throughout, all at the expense of the Defendants. To restore it to the condition at the commencement of the tenancy would have required merely old paint, a worn out rug, debris in



the yard, dime store hardware and "sloughing" plaster.

Now, let us examine specific items. The Court allowed Plaintiffs \$200.00 for damage to the living room rug. A spot 2 x 4 feet in front of the fireplace was burned until the nap was gone (Tr. 50). Plaintiffs both testified that this rug was 16 years old before Defendants moved in (Tr. 106 lines 17-18 and Tr. 138). The Plaintiffs offered in evidence a piece of the rug, to-wit: the burned spot and the area around it. This was not admitted in evidence, but various witnesses were asked to testify as to the condition of the area around the burn, to show, from this unburned portion, that the rug still had some useful life. But, this portion of the rug had always been covered either by a piano (Tr. 276), or, as Dr. Wight admitted, by a Navajo rug (Tr. 413 and Tr. 423), so obviously it would not be subject to wear. Dr. Wight himself testified that this portion of the rug was not worn like the remainder (Tr. 427). Elsewhere, Dr. Wight admitted, the rug showed "considerable wear." On the stairs this same rug (Tr. 139) had holes worn clear through (Tr. 428).

It is obvious that this rug was worn out, from 15 or 16 years of tramping over it by Plaintiff and his family, 9 months by a tenant and 6½ years by Defendants. That rug rendered service far beyond the usual time. An expert, Mr. Gray, testified that the normal useful life of carpet, "of a very good grade" is 15 years. (Tr. 228). An expert in the rental business testified carpet only lasted 10 to 15 years

before it became shabby and had to be replaced. This carpet had already served its full term of usefulness before Defendants moved in. That it was completely worn out 6½ years later is only normal wear and tear. Only a small area was burned. Yet the trial court awarded judgment of \$200.0 as to this same rug.

Defendants are charged \$100.00 for a water softener. This, too, by Plaintiffs' admission, was old when Defendants moved in (Tr. 69 lines 3-4), though Plaintiffs also claimed that it was practically brand new (Tr. 69 line 2). Water softeners are expendible, and this one was worn out when the Callaghans moved in. It broke down shortly after they moved in (Tr. 340), at which time Dr. Wight repaired it temporarily, but it did not last and had to be repaired repeatedly (Tr. 340), before it was finally abandoned as worn out.

Judgment was *twice* rendered against Defendants because of a claimed burn on the linoleum drainboard. This drainboard was old, cracked and deteriorated when Defendants moved in (Tr. 340). Mrs. Callaghan waxed and shellacked it to try and preserve it, but apparently not to the satisfaction of Dr. Wight. He replaced it with tile, for which Defendants were charged not just once, but twice; once, for \$45.00 in Finding 13 (R. 19), and again by inclusion of the same item in the list making up the \$200.15 item in Finding 17 (R. 20). Dr. Wight so testified (Tr. 96 lines 12-13).

Defendants are charged for breakage of items broken by Plaintiffs. The judgment includes \$1.45, for broken electrical outlets and switches and \$10.00 for broken glass window. Mrs. Callaghan testified (Tr. 342 and Tr. 343), that Dr. Wight himself broke these and her testimony is nowhere controverted. These electrical outlets and switches were also charged to Defendants twice — once in Finding 13 (R. 19) and again by inclusion in the miscellaneous figure for materials, \$200.15, Finding 17 (R. 20). See Dr. Wight's testimony (Tr. 68 lines 17-24). How many other items are charged twice, included in both Finding 13 and Finding 17 it is impossible to determine, because the lists, constituting the \$79.39 item and the \$200.15 item were not offered in evidence and what they included can only be guessed at. Certain it is that some items, as shown above, are included twice and probably all of them are. The Plaintiff, Dr. Wight, testified (Tr. 89 lines 22-25) that the "lumped figure" included the material for "all of the things that were done on the inside of the house." The case should be remanded for clarification of Finding 17 and elimination of the duplicate charges.

Judgment was rendered against the Defendants for \$829.54 for renovation, painting and decorating (R 20). This work was done entirely by the Plaintiffs themselves, except for \$25.00 paid to a paperhanger. Dr. Wight claimed Mrs. Wight put in 18 days cleaning and 12 days for painting and spackling (Tr. 181-182). She herself testified to only 7½

days cleaning and that included one day spent cleaning the exterior porch and flagstones. (Tr. 146.) She also testified that this cleaning consumed as much time as did the painting (Tr. 145 lines 22-23). If she spent  $6\frac{1}{2}$  days interior cleaning and an equal time painting, she spent far less time than her husband testified to, and her testimony should have greater weight because he was not there all the time. He "left her off every morning" while he went on (Tr. 182 line 3).

What was the nature of her "cleaning?" She said (Tr. 148), that she scrubbed and waxed the kitchen floor four different times; that

after a certain period of work up there, I would get down on my hands and knees and scrub that floor and wax it again. (Tr. 148 lines 13-14.)

One cannot consider such a statement without a mental question, "If she scrubbed it clean, ready to be waxed the first time, why do it again, and if not yet clean, why did she wax it?" If this is typical of her other cleaning, it is no wonder that it took her  $7\frac{1}{2}$  days. One is led to wonder how much the Court allowed for the second, third and fourth scrubbing and waxing. The findings do not show this. This standard of cleanliness is not required of a vacating tenant. They were required only to restore as it was before, less reasonable wear and tear.

Furthermore, Mrs. Wight testified that she spent \$300.00 worth of time during August, 1962,



during the term of the lease (Tr. 149). The judgment allowed her \$225.00 (R. 20). The Findings do not show whether this \$225.00 was for services in August, 1962, or services after defendants vacated, nor whether she was awarded judgment for the 2nd, 3rd and 4th scrubbing and waxing or only for the first. There is no finding as to the rate per hour, so it cannot be determined if the rate was reasonable. If any allowance was made for time spent in 1962, such must be disallowed. A tenant is not liable for work done by a landlord without the tenant's request. 51 CJS 1093, Sec. 368 n 20, and cases cited. The trial court should be required to be specific as to the items for which judgment was rendered against Defendants.

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