1965

# Guy H. Wight and Florence D. Wight v. Eugene Callaghan and Edna Callaghan : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action by landlords against tenants for unpaid rent, cleaning expenses, items removed and damages to the premises.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the court which rendered a judgment for the landlords.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondents seek to uphold the judgment of the trial court, and to have this appellate court

award them the sum of \$500.00 for attorney's fees in answering appellants.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants' brief has not cited the page of the record supporting any statements under their statement of facts as required by Rule 75 [p] [2] [2] [d].

Appellants' statement of facts refers to three written leases. These are Exhibits 2, 3 and 4. Both defendants executed Exhibits 2 and 4. Defendant Eugene Callaghan did not sign Exhibit 3. Both defendants enjoyed uninterrupted possession of the home from March 1, 1957 up to July 29, 1963. (R 366 lines 7-22)

By the terms of the written leases executed by the parties, the defendants were to keep the home and real property in a clean and satisfactory condition and upon termination of the tenancy, to leave the premises, equipment and furnishings in as good a condition as when entered upon except for reasonable wear and tear or damage by the elements or fire. (paragraph No. 3 of Exhibits 2, 3 and 4)

By the terms of said written leases the defendants agreed to pay the plaintiffs for all damage or injury to the premises during their tenancy. (paragraph No. 3 of Exhibits 2, 3 and 4)

By the terms of said written leases the defendants agreed to pay for cleaning the premises upon the termination of the leases. (paragraph No. 4 of Exhibits 2, 3 and 4)

The written lease agreements between the parties provide that should the Lessor be compelled to commence or sustain an action to collect rent or for damages the Lessee shall pay a reasonable attorney's fee to the Lessor. (paragraph No. 8 of Exhibits 2, 3 and 4)

At paragraph No. 3 on page 3 of appellants' Statement of Facts they refer to making structural improvements to the property. There is no evidence in the record of any improvements made to the property by the appellants. The fact the appellants filed a counter claim alleging certain improvements to the property (R 6) does not establish as a fact that improvements were made. The trial court dismissed this counterclaim prior to trial (R 10).

Throughout appellants' brief they have controverted Findings of Fact made by the trial court. Rather than setting forth in this Statement of Facts the evidence supporting the facts as found by the trial court respondent will refer to the record under the points set forth under the argument.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE DOES SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT EUGENE CALLAGHAN WAS LIABLE FOR ALL CLAIMED DAMAGES.

The deposition of Eugene Callaghan was taken by his attorney on September 6, 1963. Defendants'



motion to open and publish this deposition was granted by the trial court. (R 371 line 10)

At the taking of his deposition Eugene Callaghan admitted that he and Mrs. Callaghan had been leasing property from Mr. and Mrs. Guy Wight at 3621 Highland Drive under three separate written leases. (page 3 of Eugene Callaghan deposition)

Eugene Callaghan admitted entering into another lease with the respondents for the period from the 1st of March, 1959 to the 29th of February, 1960. (page 8 of deposition)

The defendant Eugene Callaghan was shown a copy of the lease which he had not signed and was asked:

Q. Is this a copy of a lease which *you intended to execute* between yourselves and the Wights?

A. Yes, as far as I know that is.

Q. Do you know any reason why your signature does not appear thereon as a lessee when your name appears as one of the lessees in the typed part of the document?

A. I was not here. I was in Brazil at the time this was dated and it was not sent to me for my signature by Dr. Wight. (page 22 of Eugene Callaghan deposition.)

When Dr. Wight was questioned regarding the second lease he stated that he had discussed it with Mrs. Callaghan and she agreed that she would sign the lease and he would sign the lease and that they would not send it to Cyprus for Mr. Eugene Callag-

han's signature. (R 46 line 2-4) Dr. Wight testified that Eugene Callaghan indicated to him that he was happy that his wife and family were living in the home during this period. (R 46 line 17-19)

The evidence is uncontroverted that both defendants enjoyed possession of the home from their execution of the first lease until they surrendered the premises to the plaintiffs on July 29, 1963. (R 366 lines 20-22)

Appellants argue that the case should be remanded for elimination of all items of damage charged to the defendant Eugene Callaghan which occurred between the end of the first lease and the commencement of the third lease. The only law which appellants cite on this point is a general statement to the effect that the burden of proving agency rests on the party alleging it.

Appellants have overlooked numerous cases supporting the proposition that it is not essential to the validity of a lease for the purpose of binding the lessee that it be signed by the lessee, provided he accepts the lease and acts thereunder. *Jacobson v. National Tea Co.* (1924) 51 ND 889, 200 NW 910; *Holbrook v. Chamberlin* (1874) 116 Mass 155, 17 Am Rep 146; *William Wicke Co. v. Kaldenberg Mfg. Co.* (1897) 21 Misc 79, 46 NYS 937; *Carroll v. St. John's Catholic Total Abstinence & Mut. Relief Soc.* (1878) 125 Mass 565; *Fitton v. Hamilton City* (1870) 6 Nev 196; *Munford v. Humphreys* (1924) 68 Cal App 530, 229 P 860; *Means v. Dierks* (1950,

CA10 Kan) 180 F2d 306. These cases stand for the proposition that a lease signed by the landlord alone is binding on the tenant where he has accepted the lease and taken possession of the property.

In the *Fitton v. Hamilton City* case the Nevada Supreme Court said:

It is the plainest dictate of justice and right, that if one obtain possession and occupy premises under a lease, he should be holden to accept it subject to all the covenants and obligations of the instrument. *supra* 6 Nev. 200

In the case of *Spann v. Gulley* (1958) 233 Miss 62, 101 So. 2d 337 a formal lease was prepared by the lessor as requested by the lessee. The lessee remained in possession without notifying the lessor that the terms of the lease were unacceptable. The court upheld the action for rent for the period the premises were occupied stating that the lessees' were bound by the lease they had not signed because of their remaining in possession and failing to notify that any terms of the lease agreement were unsatisfactory.

In the case the defendant Eugene Callaghan executed the first lease agreement dated January 18, 1957. (Exhibit 2) The second lease agreement not signed by Eugene Callaghan specifically states that Eugene Callaghan and Edna S. Callaghan, his wife, are lessees. (Exhibit 3) The third lease dated May 10, 1960 is executed by both defendants. (Ex-

hibit 4) There never was any termination of both defendants quiet and peaceable enjoyment of the premises.

One further principle precludes the necessity for remanding this case to the trial court under this Point I. This is based upon the fact that the time the damages occurred is within the knowledge of the defendants and not the knowledge of the plaintiffs. Defendants resided at the premises and had possession of the premises during the full term of Exhibits 2, 3 and 4. Plaintiffs did not check for damages even though they might have been on the premises during the terms of the lease because they believed right up to the end of the tenancy that the defendants were going to purchase the premises. (R 103 lines 10-15) Mrs. Wight testified that she was not around this house more than half a dozen times in the six years that the defendants rented it. (R 154 line 27) She testified that the defendants had frequently told her that they were going to buy the home and for this reason she did not pay any special attention to their upkeep of the home. (R 160 lines 1-23)

## POINT II.

PLAINTIFFS DID PROVE THAT DAMAGES OCCURRED WHEN LEASES WERE IN EFFECT.

Mrs. Edna Callaghan admitted that they never turned possession of the premises back to the plaintiffs at any time during the period from March 1,

1957 to July 29, 1963. (R 366 lines 20-22) Appellants contend the case should be remanded to the trial court for a new trial to determine which damages occurred during a four month period from March 1, 1960 to June 30, 1960. This is the period between Exhibits 3 and 4, except Exhibit 4 is dated May 10, 1960 not June 30, 1960. Mrs. Callaghan testified that this period where they did not have a written lease was an accommodation for both parties. (R 366 line 11-14) Defendants did not turn the possession back to the plaintiffs at any time during this period. (R 366 line 20-22) The terms of the previous written lease applied during this hold over period. This is the way the parties themselves intended as exhibited by the defendants retaining possession and paying rent at the same amount as the previous written lease. (R 366 lines 17-19)

Appellants contend a fatal defect in the plaintiffs' case because there is no finding as to when any of the damage occurred. Appellants have overlooked that the findings specifically provide that the damages occurred during "their occupancy of the premises." Finding of Fact No. 5 made by the trial court is that defendants resided at the home as tenants from early 1957 until vacating the premises on July 31, 1963. (R 17) Finding No. 10, No. 11, No. 12, No. 14, No. 15, No. 16 and No. 17 provide that the damages or lost items occurred during defendants occupancy of the premises. (R 18 and 19) Finding No. 22 of the trial court provides that plaintiffs were not aware of many of the missing and damaged



items prior to the termination of the defendants tenancy. (R 20)

It is true that the evidence does not state the exact date of many of the damages. However if the damages occurred during a period during which a lease was not in effect (and it is respondents' position that a lease was in effect during all of the possession of the defendants — supported by the cases set forth in Point I) then the burden shifts to the defendants to establish that the damages occurred during the period no lease was in effect. This is based upon the principle set forth in the case of *Mott v. Good Roads Machinery Company*, 277 App. DIV. 677, 102 NY Supp. 2d 781, that the one who exclusively has the information runs the risk of a failure to produce.

This principle that defendants must produce evidence of when the damages occurred is particularly applicable in this case as this evidence lies peculiarly within their knowledge. Plaintiffs have established and the trial court has found that damages occurred during the period of defendants tenancy. Dr. Wight stated that he had no way of knowing when the damages occurred and that he did not maintain an inspection of the premises during the time the defendants were there. (R 103 lines 10-15)

### POINT III.

**DEFENDANTS WERE NOT CHARGED WITH NORMAL WEAR AND TEAR NOR WITH IMPROVEMENTS.**

In each of the applicable Findings of Fact the trial court expressly found that the damages were beyond reasonable wear and tear. (Findings 13, 14 and 17. (R 19-20) In view of the assertions in appellants' brief that the facts do not support the findings made by the trial judge respondent will set forth below each of the items awarded by the trial court and list after each award the places in the record supporting the finding made by the trial court.

Finding 9.

Rent for July 1963 .....	\$183.33
(R 47 lines 26-30) (R 48 lines 1-15)	

Finding 10.

Rug .....	200.00
(R 49 lines 9-29) (R 50 lines 16-23)	

Finding 11.

Water damage dining room .....	13.76
(R 54 lines 7-20) (R 55 line 9)	

Finding 12. Removed Items:

Screen Door Closures .....	6.15
(R 58 lines 13-21)	
Shields and Covers for Gable Lights .....	12.00
(R 59 lines 1-6)	
Screen for the Bar-Be-Que Pit .....	9.16
(R 59 lines 9-24)	
Navajo Saddle Blanket .....	35.00
(R 59 line 29 to R 60 line 11)	
Light Fixture in the Shop .....	10.95
(R 61 lines 3-6)	
Night Latch in the Shop .....	3.75
(R 61 lines 17-23)	
Screen Door in the Shop .....	10.50

(R 61 line 25 to R 62 line 4)	
Garage Door Handles .....	5.82
(R 62 lines 8-24)	
Window Lock in the Garage .....	3.25
(R 62 lines 25-30)	
Door Stop in the Garage .....	1.50
(R 63 lines 2-5)	
Check Ropes in the Garage .....	.60
(R 64 lines 18-23)	
Wire Clothes Lines and	
Turnbuckles .....	2.85
(R 64 lines 25-30)	
Bird Bath .....	4.50
(R 65 lines 1-6)	
Total Missing Items .....	\$105.13
Finding 13. Damaged Items:	
Curtain Rods .....	\$ 15.00
(R 57 lines 3-14)	
Broken Tile in the Bar-Be-Que Pit ..	4.28
(R 66 line 14 to R 67 line 7)	
Broken Sprinkler Head .....	2.00
(R 67 line 13 to R 68 line 13)	
Water Softener which was not	
useable .....	100.00
(R 68 line 25 to R 69 line 29)	
Electrical Outlets and Switches ....	1.45
(R 70 lines 5-16)	
Damages to the back wall lying	
along the East boundary of the	
property .....	30.00
(R 80 line 26 to R 81 line 27)	
Holes in the Rain Gutter	
on the Roof .....	2.50
(R 86 line 30 to R 87 line 20)	
Broken Lead Glass Window .....	10.00
(R 97 lines 5-10) (R 99 line 7)	
Burned Drain Board .....	45.00



(R 95 lines 2-6) (R 239 line 18)  
 Gaping hole in Wall of an  
 Upstairs Bedroom ..... 50.00  
 (R 71 line 11 to R 72 line 20)  
 Total items damaged or  
 broken .....\$258.43

Finding 14.

Yard Damage .....\$10.00  
 (R 84 lines 9-18) (R 411 lines  
 16-30)

Finding 15.

Water damage shop .....\$775.88  
 (R 56 lines 4-12) (R 56 lines  
 21-25) (R 117 line 19)

Finding 16.

Bedroom rug .....\$ 26.00  
 (R 143 lines 15 to 27)

Finding 17. Restoring Premises:

(R 77 lines 17-21)  
 (R 89 lines 11-16)  
 (R 90 lines 10-17)  
 (R 90 line 25 to R 93 line 6)  
 (R 96 line 22 to R 97 line 5)  
 (R 97 lines 18 to 21)  
 (R 132 lines 8 to R 133 line 23)  
 Spackle and Lumber ..... 79.39  
 (R 98 lines 1-4)  
 Paints and other miscellaneous  
 materials ..... 200.15  
 (R 99 lines 9-12)  
 Labor of a paper hanger ..... 25.00  
 (R 93 line 12)  
 Labor of Plaintiff Guy H. Wight  
 in repairing and restoring  
 premises ..... 300.00

(R 52 lines 11-19) (R 100 line 26 to R 101 line 14)	
Labor of Florence D. Wight in repairing and restoring premises ..	225.00
(R 142 line 15 to R 143 line 14)	
(R 144 lines 18 to 29) (R 148 lines 28 to 149 line 26) (R 181 lines 15 to R 182 line 9)	
Total of items in this Paragraph .....	\$829.54
Finding 18.	
Attorney's fees .....	\$568.64
(R 162 lines 11-22)	

The trial court found that by the terms of the written leases executed by the parties the appellants were to keep the home and real property in a clean and satisfactory condition and upon termination of the tenancy to leave the premises, equipment, and furnishings in as good as condition as when entered upon, except for reasonable wear and tear or damage by the elements or fire. (Finding 6) (R 17 and 18) This finding is supported by paragraph No. 3 of Exhibits 2, 3 and 4.

The trial court found that by the terms of the leases the appellants agreed to pay the respondent for all damage or injury to the premises during their tenancy. (Finding 7) (R 18) This finding is supported by paragraph No. 3 of Exhibits 2, 3 and 4.

The trial court found that by the terms of said leases defendants agreed to pay for cleaning the premises upon the termination of the leases. (Finding 8) (R 18) This finding is supported by paragraph No. 4 of Exhibits 2, 3 and 4.

In many instances the trial court did not grant the amount sought by respondent but instead granted less than the claimed damage:

Damaged carpeting from smoldering and spilling of a can of paint, requested \$300.00 (R 50 lines 16-23) v \$200.00 awarded;

Ruined water softener \$150.00 (R 69 line 29) v \$100.00 awarded;

Labor of Plaintiff Guy Wight \$600.00 (R 101 lines 1-14) v \$300.00 awarded;

Labor of Florence D. Wight \$525.00 (R 183 lines 10-15) v \$225.00 awarded;

Gaping hole in the wall of upstairs bedroom \$135.00 (R 172 lines 19-20) v \$50.00 awarded;

Restoration of yard \$450.00 (R 183 line 28 to R 185 line 7) v \$10.00 awarded.

The respondents having prevailed in the trial court are entitled to have the evidence on conflicting matters viewed in a light most favorable to them. *Weenig v. Manning*, 1 Utah 2d 101, 262 P 2d 491 and *Larson v. Evans*, 12 Utah 2d 245, 364 P 2d 1088. The case of *Jespersen v. Deseret News Pub. Co.*, (1951) 119 Utah 235, 225 P 2d 1050 involved an action by a landlord against a tenant for rent and damages. The court said:

This case being one brought to enforce the terms of a lease and no equitable issues being involved, this court can only review errors of law and not of fact. Art. VIII, Sec. 9, Constitution of Utah. (225 P 2d page 1052)

In spite of this law respondents believe it is necessary to answer specifically the shotgun charges made by appellants in this point. The most pernicious charge made by appellants is that "probably" they have been charged twice for all items. (Page 14 of Appellants' Brief) This charge is not supported when the record is carefully examined.

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